

Society for Research into Higher Education

## The Silent Majority: Meeting the Needs of Part-time Research Students

Alistair McCulloch & Peter Stokes Editor: Martin Gough

Issues in Postgraduate Education: Management, Teaching and Supervision

A Series of Consultative Guides produced by the Postgraduate Issues Network of the Society for Research into Higher Education



**Number Five** 



Society for Research into Higher Education

**SRHE** is an entirely independent and self-supporting learned society, which exists to stimulate and co-ordinate research into all aspects of higher education. It aims to improve the quality of higher education through the encouragement of debate and publication on issues of policy, on the organisation and management of higher education institutions and on teaching and learning methods and the curriculum.

SRHE members are not only from the UK but from elsewhere in Europe, from North and South America, Africa, the Pacific Rim and Australasia, and the Society regards its international work as amongst its most important activities. SRHE is an NGO in operational relations with UNESCO.

Under the imprint **SRHE** and **Open University Press**, the Society is a specialist publisher of research into higher education. It also publishes a number of highly rated journals, *Studies in Higher Education*, *Higher Education Quarterly* and *Research into Higher Education Abstracts*.

The Society has a growing number of **Networks** for researchers and practitioners interested in particular areas of higher education. These Networks hold regular meetings throughout the year, providing the opportunity to discuss and debate current issues with leading researchers in the field.

There are two types of membership: individual (including reduced rates for students and retired members) and corporate, for organisations and higher education institutions (with variable rates according to size of organisation).

Individual membership of SRHE includes some significant additional benefits:

- substantial discounts on rates for SRHE Annual Conference, SRHE seminars and all SRHE-supported events
- the opportunity to participate in the Society's Networks. SRHE Network events are free to SRHE members
- reduced subscription rates for Studies in Higher Education (over 50% reduction on subscription rates)
- Research into Higher Education Abstracts free of charge
- reduced subscription rates for *Higher Education Quarterly*
- 35% discount on all books from the Open University Press/SRHE Higher Education catalogue
- 30% discount on all books published by Routledge/Taylor & Francis
- 20% discount on all books and journals published by Blackwell Publishing
- the opportunity to apply for annual research grants
- free copies of SRHE News and occasional in-house publications
- access to the Register of Members' Research Interests includes reference material on research pursued by the Society's members
- inclusion of research in the Register of Members' Research Interests.

**Corporate membership of SRHE** offers a range of facilities providing significant savings on journal subscriptions. In particular corporate members receive free subscriptions to *Studies in Higher Education* and *Research into Higher Education*, plus free online access to both journals and their back catalogues.

For more information about SRHE membership please contact the Society.

Society for Research into Higher Education 76 Portland Place London W1B INT tel: 020 7637 2766 fax: 020 7637 2781 email: srheoffice@srhe.ac.uk http://www.srhe.ac.uk



# **The Silent Majority: Meeting the Needs of Part-time Research Students**

## Alistair McCulloch & Peter Stokes

**Editor: Martin Gough** 

## ISSUES IN POSTGRADUATE EDUCATION: MANAGEMENT, TEACHING AND SUPERVISION

A Series of Consultative Guides produced by the Postgraduate Issues Network of the Society for Research into Higher Education

Series Two | Number Five



Society for Research into Higher Education 76 Portland Place London WIB INT www.srhe.ac.uk

© Alistair McCulloch and Peter Stokes, 2008

Published by the Society for Research into Higher Education, May 2008.

ISBN 978-0-946376-12-4

Editorial management by The Professional and Higher Partnership, Newmarket. Typeset by Digital Ink, Cambridge. Printed by Aldgate Press, London.

## Foreword to the series

The SRHE Postgraduate Guides have proven a very popular series and meet a growing demand for advice and guidance on the practical issues involved in the management, teaching and supervision of postgraduates who come from a wide variety of disciplines and backgrounds often with widely different needs.

This new series of the Postgraduate Guides, launched in 2007, contains a number of new titles as well as some revisions of the most popular guides from the first series.

As with the first series the aim has been to produce clear practical guides, devoid of jargon, intended as a useful set of tools that will help deliver and support the delivery of high quality postgraduate training.

The guides are developed by the SRHE Postgraduate Issues Network. The executive team responsible for conceiving and directing this new series is led by Pam Denicolo and comprises: Alistair McCulloch, Martin Gough and Helen Perkins, Director of SRHE.

## The SRHE Postgraduate Issues Network

The Postgraduate Issues Network was set up in January 1995 to help its members find out about new developments in the field of postgraduate education and to interpret these for their own use and benefit. In particular the network is concerned with: financial issues, quality issues, issues of good practice, issues specific to and independent of discipline and issues relating to employment. The network has more than a hundred members, including a number in the USA, Canada, Australia and Hong Kong, and it continues to grow.

The network offers its members much more than a series of meetings: it aims to be a true network of mutual support. It does this by:

- providing speakers at meetings to focus on a topic of general or topical interest
- ensuring that there is the opportunity for members to raise their own issues to discuss in or after meetings
- circulating material from members between meetings, and
- stimulating informal support and collaboration outside meetings.

Helen Perkins Director Society for Research into Higher Education Pam Denicolo Alistair McCulloch Martin Gough Richard Race Convenors Postgraduate Issues Network

### **Editorial Board**

Professor Pamela Denicolo – Editorial Board Chair Director of the Graduate School for the Social Sciences, University of Reading

Dr Tim Brown Lecturer in Mobile Communications, University of Surrey

Ms Gill Clarke Director, Education Support Unit, University of Bristol Assistant Director, Development and Enhancement Group, Quality Assurance Agency for Higher Education

Professor Sue Clegg Head of the Centre for Research into Higher Education, Carnegie Research Institute, Leeds Metropolitan University

Professor Miriam David Associate Director, ESRC's Teaching and Learning Research Programme, Institute of Education, University of London

Dr Martin Gough Lecturer in Higher Education and Academic Practice, University of Kent

Dr Hafdis Ingvarsdottir Associate Professor, University of Iceland

Professor Michael Kompf Department of Undergraduate and Graduate Studies in Education, Brock University, Ontario, Canada

Professor Alistair McCulloch Dean of Research and Knowledge Transfer, Edge Hill University

Dr Janet Metcalfe Director, UK GRAD Programme

Professor Gareth Parry School of Education, University of Sheffield

Ms Helen Perkins Director, Society for Research into Higher Education

Dr Peter Stokes Department of Strategy and Innovation, University of Central Lancashire

Professor Diana Woodward Director of the Graduate School, Napier University

Members of the Editorial Board help steer the Postgraduate Guide Series and individual members are invited to contribute as readers on specific Guides.

## Foreword

In this Guide, Alistair McCulloch and Peter Stokes break new ground in addressing and foregrounding the needs of part-time research students. Whereas many standard sources assume a full-time context for doctoral study, the authors highlight the situation of the part-time majority of mainly mature students pursuing research degrees. Their argument is that both institutional arrangements and system-wide policy have yet to reflect the different circumstances of part-time engagement. Drawing on their respective disciplines of political science and management studies. McCulloch and Stokes point to the power relations encountered in the doctoral process, as between the student and the supervisor, department and institution; and as expressed in what they call the cultural web of doctoral learning and socialisation. At the same time, the motivations of those who study part-time are many and complex, and the forms taken by research degrees – traditional and professional – contribute to a changing environment for both full-time and part-time study. To better the conditions for part-time students is, they believe, a way of improving the experience of all research students. And, in the same spirit. we as readers are invited to volunteer our own views on how the Guide might be enhanced and developed to connect with new models and wider audiences for doctoral education.

#### Professor Gareth Parry School of Education, University of Sheffield

## Preface

This Guide offers what the authors think is the first significant consideration of the issue of part-time research students, a group now constituting the majority of research students in the UK. It is our contention that policy and institutional arrangements have yet to reflect this changed situation.

The Guide has the following purposes:

- to establish a case for the part-time research student to be seen as bringing to the institution different qualities and characteristics to those brought by full-timers;
- to establish that part-time research students have different needs to those of full-timers;
- to establish how institutional structures and practices can be, if only unintentionally, biased against part-time research students and can fail to give voice to their concerns;
- to make recommendations to both institutions and national policy-makers as to how these biases can begin to be addressed; and
- to provide a resource that institutional bodies and also supervisors and research students (full- and part-time) can use to stimulate and develop conversations about the place of the part-time research student in the university.

In seeking to fulfil the latter purpose, the Guide contains a series of what we have termed 'reflections' which can be used, together with the text surrounding them, as prompts for discussion and (in some cases) guides to action.

We have sought to develop our ideas from models and ideas drawn from our respective disciplines (political science in the case of McCulloch and management studies in the case of Stokes) believing that there is nothing more practical than a good theory.<sup>1</sup> We believe that such an approach, basing the developing literature on doctoral study firmly in the extant disciplinary literatures, is one that should be encouraged and which would, if adopted widely, strengthen our relatively underdeveloped understanding of the area.

The authors would like to emphasise that this Guide has been written entirely collaboratively and that each author has contributed equally to the enterprise. We would also like to invite both comments on our arguments and also suggestions as to where the Guide could be improved when it is revised.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> As declared by Lewin, K. (1951) *Field Theory in Social Science: selected theoretical papers*, p.169. New York: Harper & Row.

#### About the authors

Professor Alistair McCulloch is Dean of Research and Knowledge Transfer at Edge Hill University, having previously been Professor of Public Administration at the Robert Gordon University in Aberdeen. He is a member of the Executive Committee of the UK Council for Graduate Education and has been one of three convenors of the Society for Research into Higher Education's Postgraduate Issues Network since 2004. A member of the working group which revised Section One of the QAA Code of Practice on postgraduate research degree programmes in 2004, he has long argued for more attention to be paid to the needs of part-time research students. He is General Editor of the recently launched *International Journal of Graduate Education*.

Dr Peter Stokes (PhD MBA PGCertTLHE PGCertRDS BA(Hons)) is Principal Lecturer and Division Leader at the Lancashire Business School, University of Central Lancashire. His research interests include postgraduate educational processes, pedagogy, management development, and cultural and philosophical approaches to understanding management. He has held a Fellowship in Teaching and Learning at Edge Hill University and has been a visiting lecturer at Osnabrück Fachhochschule, Germany, the Senegambian Confederation in Dakar, Senegal (West Africa) and Guang Zhou and Shen Zhen Universities in southeastern China. He is a member of the editorial board of the SRHE Postgraduate Guides series and Associate Editor/Book Reviews Editor for the *International Journal of Graduate Education*.

#### Contact details

Professor Alistair McCulloch	Dr Peter Stokes
Department of Research & Knowledge Transfer	Department of Strategy & Innovation
Edge Hill University	Lancashire Business School
Ormskirk	University of Central Lancashire
L39 4QP	Preston PRI 2HE
Email Alistair.McCulloch@edgehill.ac.uk	Email pstokes@uclan.ac.uk

# Contents

Introduction: The Need for a Guide on Part-time Students	
Part I A 'Typical' Research Student? Issues and Implications	3
Taking account of needs, access and life Contextualising motivations for doctoral study Maturity, motivation and the research student	5 6 7
Part 2 The Doctoral Process	11
Process or cultural web?	
Part 3 Power	16
A short excursion on power Induction, interaction and information Induction Interaction Interaction The outworking of power Organisational structures and control systems Stories, symbols, and ritual and routines	16 18 19 19 20 21 22
Part 4 Other Issues	24
Access to resources Funding Relationships Time Socialisation into academic life	24 25 27 29 30
Conclusion	31
Recommendations to institutions Institutional arrangements	32 32

The research environment	32
Selection, admission and induction of students	33
Supervision	33
Progress and review arrangements	33
Development of research and other skills	34
Feedback mechanisms, student representations,	
complaints and appeals	34
Assessment	34
Access to resources	35
Recommendations for policy makers	35

#### Further Reading and Resources

36

# Introduction: The Need for a Guide on Part-time Students

There are a lot of 'How to...' books on the topic of research degrees. We have commented on their approach elsewhere<sup>2</sup> and one of the points we make is that, despite the median UK research student being one who studies in part-time mode, these books largely deal with their situation in only a few paragraphs. We could review many such books here but have chosen the following, excellent in their own way, volumes as exemplars of the field.

Phillips and Pugh's seminal *How to Get a PhD* refers to the geographical reasons some choose part-time study, the particular problem part-time students have in understanding the demands a doctorate entails, the fact that part-time study takes longer than full-time, and the need for institutions to ensure the availability of facilities for all students and to recognise their specific support needs. There is also a slightly longer section discussing the issues of competing demands, finance and time management faced by part-timers, but even this relatively good example dedicates a total of less than three pages out of 219 to this largely ignored constituency.

Pat Cryer gives more thought than most to part-time students, identifying many of the themes incorporated into this Guide and advising part-timers to revisit a number of chapters in the book for advice.<sup>3</sup>

In a more recent book providing a lot of valuable advice, whose title, *The Unwritten Rules of PhD Research*, suggests it will go beyond the official story, Rugg and Petre<sup>4</sup> write as though there was only one template for the doctorate, the full-time option, ignoring completely the differences between different modes of study (and for that matter, different forms of doctorate).

Revised in the same year as Rugg and Petre was published, the excellent second edition of *Supervising the Doctorate* by Delamont, Atkinson and Parry indexes part-time students a mere three times. One reference is to the difficulty part-time students can have clearing time to enable them to work, another to the fact that supervisors cannot assume that part-time students have access to a word processor, and the other to the need to ensure that part-time students have access to departmental information through newsletters and web pages.

Finally, in the 2007 revised edition to their book *Your PhD Companion*, Marshall and Green dedicate one-and-a-half pages to part-time students (pp. 14–15), beginning the section with the warning that part-time students 'should expect a tougher journey than the average PhD student has', and concluding it by offering the advice that, if the student is 'committed,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Stokes & McCulloch, 2006. For this and subsequent references please see the Further Reading and Resources section.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Cryer 2nd edn., 2000, p.220.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Rugg & Petre, 2004.

well-organised and focused ... [they should] consider a full-time solution'. This brutally honest advice does, however, ignore the fact that many part-time students choose that route because of their circumstances and/or because there is no funding available to them.<sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Those wishing to understand the experience of part-time students could do worse that look at Greenfield (2000), which has a number of personal 'testimonies' of the part-time experience by students who have travelled that journey.

## Part I

## A 'Typical' Research Student? Issues and Implications

When the primary purpose of doctoral education was the development of a thesis consisting of up to 100,000 words over a period of anywhere between three and ten years, there was little difference between full- and part-time research students apart from the fees they paid. The full implications of recent policy developments are still being worked through, but this generous approach for all research students is no longer tenable and the part-timer in particular has been 'problematised'. These developments are grounded in the changing view of the product of the doctoral degree from being the thesis to being the trained researcher. When combined with a commitment on the part of various stakeholders to improve the experience of the UK's doctoral students (not least because of unfavourable international comparisons and a perceived threat to an important national and institutional income stream they bring with them) this altered perspective has resulted in part-time students themselves being perceived as a problem requiring a solution.

This Guide starts from the assumption that the part-time student is not essentially problematic. Rather, the problem lies in the way in which doctoral education is organised within institutions. The authors' argument is that, given that the reality of the overall life experience of the part-time student is likely to be different from that of the full-time student, and given that their 'proximity' to their institution and to its facilities is likely to be less than that of the full-time student, different arrangements require to be put into place. However, rather than treating this as a way of solving the 'problem' of the part-time student, we suggest that the solutions that need to be put into place to support part-time students will also provide better support for full-time students. What we argue here is that, rather than treat the full-time doctoral student as the norm, institutions should begin from the conceit that the 'normal student' is one who is part-time. This, as will be seen, has many advantages, not least that it re-orientates doctoral education as a student-centred enterprise and has regard to the real nature of the contemporary research student rather than the stereotypical student underpinning contemporary public policy on the matter.

Who is this stereotypical research student? Arguably he (and it is implicitly a 'he') is a young, full-time, funded student who is geographically mobile, without dependants, studying in a metropolitan area and intending to pursue a career as a full-time researcher or academic. Drawing on the study of policy as an academic discipline, we can identify this stereotype in the policies, practices and official discourses governing the provision of doctoral education in the UK.

The major drivers in the development of this stereotypical research student have been

the Research Councils, the Department for Education and Skills and its predecessor and successor departments, the higher education funding councils (HEFCE, SHEFC, HEFCW) and the Office of Science and Technology (OST) as they have sought, successfully, to conflate the notion of the research degree with that of research training, principally by introducing significant elements of generic skills and formal research training into what may be termed the 'doctoral curriculum'.<sup>6</sup> In 2004, there was a significant move towards recognising that policy and practice had to reflect the reality of a broader range of students and student needs than had hitherto been the case. This move came about with the publication by the Quality Assurance Agency (QAA) of the revised Section One of its Code of Practice, relating to postgraduate research degrees. This document brought together in a single document concerns and interests that had been articulated over the previous few years in a variety of publications.<sup>7</sup>

The working group which undertook this revision included representatives of all parts of the higher education sector and also of the major UK public funding bodies. The earliest drafts of the Code contained reference to a requirement that all research students, irrespective of their background, area of study or future plans, should undertake mandatory generic skills training. During discussion, this requirement was replaced by one which recognised that skills training should be appropriate and that institutions should pay 'particular attention to the differing needs of individual postgraduates, arising from their diversity'.<sup>8</sup> Rather than the focus being on a typified research student (a typification drawn from an undifferentiated focus on the group), it had shifted to the needs of the individual student in the light of her or his life plan and the nature of the doctoral research project being undertaken.

The authors of this Guide do not wish to fall into this same error when discussing parttime students and, in a contribution to a recent book on the provision of skills training to research students, we have stated that part-time students do not constitute an homogenous group, agreeing with Green and Powell's comment<sup>9</sup> that 'it becomes ever more apparent that the concept of "the doctoral student" is one typified by heterogeneity (rather) than by homogeneity'. We continued that this:

applies just as much if not more to part-time research students as it does to the entire PGR body. Some of them are in full-time employment and are pursuing a doctoral award as part of their own continuing professional development or to address an issue or project of particular interest to her/his employer. Some part-time research students are drawn from the ranks of those who are not in formal work either through redundancy or retirement, or because they have dependants to care for. Others may work part-time across a wide range of occupations. Some may move in and out of employment during their time as a research student.

 $<sup>^{6}\,</sup>$  It is worth noting that the enthusiasm of these bodies was generally not matched by enthusiasm from the universities, students or individual academics, many of whom have actively opposed it.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> For a discussion of these, see McCulloch & Stokes, 2007.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> QAA, 2004, p.20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Green & Powell, 2005, p.14.

Generally, part-time research students tend to be more mature and, as a result, possess significant life experience. In post-1992 universities and colleges of HE, and in the professional disciplines such as business, education and nursing where there is a strong tradition of recruiting practitioners without doctoral qualifications, some are fellow academics. Most of those pursuing the alternatives to the traditional 'big book' thesis are part-time students.<sup>10</sup>

Accordingly, in developing this Guide, we have sought to keep the individual doctoral student and her/his needs to the fore. To neglect this would be to run the risk of making the student invisible, which would be unfortunate given that one of the things we are suggesting policy-makers have done is to generate a typification of an ideal type student which results in resources being directed to that type while 'other' student types are at best ignored or, at worst, become virtually invisible. We do, however, have to discuss some of the features that are characteristic of many part-time students in order to make recommendations as to how institutions, faculties and departments within those institutions and individual supervisors can better meet the needs of part-time research students. (In doing this, we will try to avoid the misdemeanour which we lay at the door of others, that is, to overlay these features and combine them to form a single stereotype.) It is to this task that we now turn.

## Taking account of needs, access and life

One of the key implications of the QAA Code of Practice is that, additional to the needs engendered by the research project being pursued, the needs of the individual research student (as contextualised by their life experience and life plans) should dictate, in large part, the nature of the support they require and the skills training they are required to undertake as part of their programme of study. We argue that, in addition to needs, there are two other elements requiring to be taken into account – motivation and access. Institutions have to do this when developing provision for part-time students by recognising that:

- because life plans provide motivations and also generate needs, needs are related to motivation;<sup>11</sup>
- 2. however good the support provided by the institution in which the student is studying, the student must be able to access that provision; and,
- 3. needs are also generated, and access influenced to a greater or lesser extent, by current life experience or circumstances.

We believe that, without an acceptance of these points, part-time (and also full-time) students' needs will not be met as well as they could be.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> McCulloch & Stokes, 2007, pp.46–47.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> As regards training and other learning needs, see, for example, Gough & Denicolo (2007).

## Contextualising motivations for doctoral study

The idea of the typical research student as young, full-time, probably single and in the early phases of their professional lives, funded and studying science with a view to a full-time academic job does not tally with the available evidence. In 2000, Pat Cryer stated that, in the UK, 'more than half of all postgraduate students are studying on a part-time basis.'<sup>12</sup> As regards just research students, by 2003–4 over 53,000 out of a total of over 108,000 studying on UK research degree programmes were doing so on a part-time basis.<sup>13</sup> More recent HESA<sup>14</sup> data demonstrates that part-time research students have achieved the majority status in this group.<sup>15</sup>

One key difference between full-time and part-time research students is that of age. Table I shows the distributions of age ranges of first year research students in the UK in 2002–3, as proportions within full-time and part-time groups respectively.

	Postgraduate Research Students	
Age	Full-time	Part-time
Under 24	62%	11%
25–29	17%	17%
30 plus	21%	72%

#### Table 1. Age structure: First-year UK research students 2002-3<sup>16</sup>

Part-time students are significantly more mature than full-timers and are, as a consequence, likely to exhibit a broader range of personal characteristics as a result of their differing life experiences. Drawing on our argument that motivation and life experience are related, we will move to a relatively brief discussion of motivation for undertaking doctoral study, placing it in the context of the mature research student. Because mature students are a more heterogeneous group than the general research student community, we believe that the motivations identified for them will also cover the motivations for all students.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Cryer, 2000, p.29.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Green & Powell, 2005.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Higher Education Statistics Agency of the UK: www.hesa.ac.uk

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Green & Penrose, 2007.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Source: adapted from Green & Powell (2005, p.15).

## Maturity, motivation and the research student

The mature research student is very different from the mature undergraduate. For a start, there is no official definition of a mature research student, unlike the situation for undergraduates where anyone over the age of 21 on commencing their studies falls into the category. In postgraduate study the definition of 'mature' is more fluid. At the very least, we can probably say that, to be considered mature, a research student should not have followed an uninterrupted consecutive trajectory (except for occasional gap years) of A levels, first degree and (possibly) masters, before taking up doctoral study. So, maturity requires having had a significant break in educational experience, with or without having undertaken a career before or at some point during that break.

A number of very different motivations may come into play for the mature doctoral student. These will relate to life experience and also to life plans – and thus will colour what the student expects and requires from the institution. They may stem from the student themselves (and hence be internally generated) or they may stem from a source external to the student, for example an employer. Understanding, for each student, motivations and their sources can help the institution to support the student in the most appropriate and fruitful way. Motivation is one of the key areas that should be explored at the point of admission. Motivations can fall into one or more of a number of categories, the most important of which we introduce here:

- Directly work-related a student may be undertaking a project related to improving the performance of their employer's organisation, which may be in the private, public or voluntary sector. They will have their costs paid and, usually, be given study time. Here, there will an emphasis on what is needed to complete the task in hand and a clear focus on the research and the thesis and the knowledge it contains as product. This is, for example, likely to be the primary motivation for someone pursuing a research degree as a Knowledge Transfer Partnership (KTP) Associate. This also holds true for academic staff employed by universities to teach in areas where there has either not been a tradition of doctoral education or where there is significant recruitment directly from practice. This is an example of an externally generated motivation.
- Up-skilling a student (or their sponsor) is interested in doctoral education as a way of enhancing their high-level skills and capabilities and making themselves more employable. Here, the focus is likely to be on the process as product, with an emphasis on high-level learning across a broad front rather than just on what is needed to successfully complete the project. This is likely to be the primary motivation for a student pursuing a professional doctorate and can be either internally or externally generated.

- Career change a student wants to change the direction of their career, and quite possibly seeks to become an academic. The doctoral qualification is seen as a necessary precursor to this and the student is likely to want to focus on the completion of the qualification and to seek other training only insofar as it impacts on that end. This motivation is internally generated and a student motivated to this end is likely to be pursuing a traditional 'big book' doctorate.
- Particular interest a student is investigating a topic in which they have had a longterm interest and which they would like to pursue in a more structured way with access to high-quality advice and the resources that can be found in a university. This type of student may very well have retired from the full-time workforce and is likely to be highly focused on their own project and what is required to complete it. Crucially, they may well be indifferent to the requirements and rigours of a prescribed research skills programme, which they may consider simply as a distraction from their research. Commonly, these students will undertake doctoral study in the arts, humanities and social sciences. This is a clear example of an internally generated motivation.
- Self-development a student views learning as a means of self-development, as learning for its own sake. They are lifelong learners.<sup>17</sup> They are pursuing a doctorate because that is the next, natural, route for them to take and the topic, while of interest to them, is not the primary motivation. Rather, the act of studying is its own motivator. Students motivated primarily by the desire for self-development are highly likely to be engaged with the process of 'becoming' the researcher as well as with the thesis as product. They are likely to pursue study in the arts, humanities and social sciences and, as is the case with the previous category, this is an example of an internally generated motivation.

It should be noted that motivations may well change as a student progresses through a doctoral programme. Thus, a student who begins with a directly external work-related motivation, may find themselves drawn towards the idea of working within higher education and find that career change becomes the primary motivation. The importance of whether the motivation is internally or externally generated is that the types of support offered and the types of argument deployed at particularly difficult points in the student's doctoral journey will be more effective if they have a degree of consonance with the student's motivation. At its most crude, if a student is being sponsored by her employer, then at those moments when it seems easier to drop out of studying, reference to the employer, their expectations, and their support to date can be used to encourage the student. This type of argument is obviously not there for the student pursuing a doctorate for the purposes of self-development. Appropriate arguments to encourage such a student to continue might be along the lines of their always regretting it if they stopped now. Most readers will be able to think of appropriate examples from their experience for each of the categories.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> For a discussion of the place of postgraduate education generally within conceptions of lifelong learning, see Gough (2006, esp. sec.6).

It is also important to note that we have introduced the notion of different types of doctorate to the discussion. Many part-time research students are undertaking professional doctorates. They will largely be students currently in occupations, with full-time careers and, possibly, other commitments (e.g. caring commitments) to juggle alongside those of the demands of study. Others may be taking doctorates by creative work. Many, but by no means all, of these will be of the particular interest or self-development type.

The particular elements discussed above pertaining to maturity, motivation and type of doctoral degree are more characteristic of the part-time than the full-time research student community and they will impact on the ability of the student to access support, facilities and other activities mounted by the institution. Institutions will have to take account of the nature of this impact when designing for part-time study.

Maturity brings with it different responsibilities from those typically associated with youth and there are also certain specific types of life-experiences that will happen more often to older rather than younger people. We are thinking here of those associated with having and raising children, divorce and re-marriage, the fragility and mortality of parents and other relatives, and illness of the student themselves. These responsibilities, as well as those arising from ongoing employment, will impact on the process of study according to the nature of the issues faced by the student, which, in turn, have bearing upon the type of support required. This discussion points to the need for institutions to develop more flexible patterns of learning support, and of skills programme<sup>18</sup> and process delivery, rather than a more rigid approach which echoes the more linear view of doctoral process and which matches the experience of the full-time rather than the part-time student.

We will argue that part-time students are frequently viewed as transient or itinerant researchers rather than as 'full' members of the research community. We will suggest that this arises not only from the physical disconnectedness of them from the institution, but also from the varied and differing motivations they may have to many full-time research students. We will argue that part-time students lack power within the university structure. Their position of relative powerlessness often means that they do not readily come to mind as being a priority for use of resources at the point when decisions for allocation are being made. For example, conference attendance can be highly instrumental in shaping and developing emerging researchers and their careers. However, while full-time research students will be expected to attend conferences (and, if funded, they may have an allocation of resources for this purpose) it is much less common for part-time students to be able to access university funding for conferences. We will return to these arguments in Parts 3 and 4.

#### Reflection I

**Supervisors**: Think of the time you spent studying for your doctorate. What would you not be able to do were you to be doing your doctoral research now and in your current life circumstances?

**Older students**: What do you see younger doctoral students being able to do that you cannot because of your circumstances?

**Younger students**: If one of your parents were to be doing your doctorate, what barriers do you think they would face that you do not?

#### Reflection 2

Supervisors and students: What motivated you to do a doctorate?

**Students**: How has your motivation to do a doctorate impacted upon the importance you have placed on the various parts of your research student experience?

## Process or cultural web?

The doctoral journey is often represented as a process. A number of different options are available in the literature<sup>19</sup> but, given its authoritative status, we have chosen to draw attention to the processual elements implicit in the QAA Code of Practice and these are represented in Figure 1. Although it is little commented on in the literature, we are aware that process models tend to imply a linearity to a student's experience that may not reflect the reality and messiness of that experience and have written elsewhere about this.<sup>20</sup> The processual approach draws on the long-established practice and critique of the rationalistic tradition in much of the writing on managing and organising process.<sup>21</sup> Through this the processual model aids discussion and so most universities adopt it to structure the internal management of their doctoral programmes. Following the publication of the revised QAA Code and the Agency's Special Review undertaken in 2005–6, internal processes are likely to become less diverse across the sector. The model, therefore, enables us to make recommendations and offer advice regarding ways of better supporting part-time research students under a series of headings which most universities and most students will recognise.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> QAA, 2004; Marshall & Green, 2007.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> McCulloch & Stokes, 2007, pp. 44–57.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> See: Luffman, G., Sanderson, S., Lea, E. & Kenny, B. (1987) Business Policy – An Analytical Introduction. Oxford: Basil Blackwell; Alvesson, M. & Willmott, H. (eds.) (1992) Critical Management Studies. London: Sage Publications; Linstead, S., Fulop, L. & Lilley, S. (2004) Management and Organization: a critical text. Basingstoke: Palgrave-Macmillan; Clegg, S., Komberger, N. & Pitsis, T. (2008) Managing and Organizations: an introduction to theory and practice. London: Sage Publications.





#### Reflection 3

**All**: Discuss the extent to which the model shown in Figure 1 applies, or applied, to the day-to-day reality of your doctoral studies.

Despite our acceptance of the use of a processual model to understand the process from a broad administrative perspective, and to structure documents and discussion. we also argue and remind observers that such an approach 'normalises' the doctoral experience. In essence, it suggests that the doctorate is a linear process wherein one step follows the next in a logical and procedural sequence. This is indeed desirable, but empirical observation and personal experience suggest that the situation, particularly from the student perspective, is not always so clear-cut. Indeed, there will be considerable value to pointing up the more messy sides of doctoral process. As has been suggested earlier, this messiness is brought about by busy lives, unplanned incidents and life events. It is not unreasonable to suggest that such events are more likely to characterise and constitute the normal or usual lives of the majority of people. Linear discussions of the doctoral process do not work well at representing or capturing these aspects of doctoral lives. This less tidy, less obviously processed side of doctoral lives can be represented with the notion of 'lived experience',<sup>22</sup> Knights and Willmott note that many academic representations of organisations and their processes portray them as being super-rational in nature. This would be entirely appropriate if the individuals involved in the processes lived their lives as if they were automatons. In referring to their own work, Knights and Willmott say that:

We refrain from treating management from the point of view of a set of theories and/or a set of techniques that examine what are assumed to be effective yet diverse ways of managing ...Instead, we seek to address managing as a vibrant, complex, challenging and even exciting human experience. Our approach is designed to counter the image of management as a branch of science or engineering, and to encourage an appreciation of managing as part and parcel of life and how it is lived.<sup>23</sup>

We suggest that there is value in viewing the doctoral process and the doctoral experience (which may be very different things) in a similar spirit. For all students, doctoral study may offer periods of loneliness, confusion, frustration and anger as well as happiness, sheer joy of discovery and accomplishment, and even of being praised. In essence, doctoral study is an emotional experience. We would argue that in representing the doctoral process purely as that, a process, we risk overlooking or marginalising these aspects of doctoral experience. In particular, while we have suggested that all students may at some time or another be prone to the above described emotions, it is perhaps

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> inter alia, Knights, D. & Willmott, H. (1999) Management Lives: *Power and Identity in Work Organizations*. London: Sage Publications.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Ibid, p.ix.

more likely that those individuals engaged in the 'part-time' doctoral experience may be more likely to experience more of the difficult end of the emotional spectrum. As one part-time postgraduate student commented to one of the authors of this Guide: 'fulltime job, full-time family, part-time study – one of those is too much!' In this statement it was evident that the student was directing his open frustration at the latter element, although experience suggests that it may also have been directed from time to time at those he was involved with both at work and at home. This frustration is not totally without comment in the wider literature on the doctoral process and the doctoral experience. A number of authors have dedicated space to issues such as those indicated above, although there is scope to explore this further.<sup>24</sup> We believe that there is scope for accounts on doctoral process, activity and life to give more emphasis to 'human' aspects of the doctorate and thus make it more obvious to institutions and many of those engaged with research students what their actual support needs are. We suggest that this can best be done by placing the messy elements of doctoral experience at the heart of the rational representation. Key moments and rites of passage (passing the first review, transferring from MPhil to doctorate, sitting the viva) are inevitable and important stages. However, they sit within the process as islands of administrative constancy, whilst being surrounded by a sea of messiness and non-linear experience. We sense there are greater opportunities to explore these aspects of doctoral process and we will do this by reference to a number of inter-related concepts that run throughout the entire process and which impact on the experience of all students, but particularly on those studying part-time. Drawing on Johnson, Scholes and Whittington,<sup>25</sup> the literature, respectively, on research degrees<sup>26</sup> and on power<sup>27</sup> and our own research into student experience, we can begin to give shape to this 'alternative topography'. The inter-related concepts are:

- Power which finds its representation organisationally through the following:
  - Stories
  - Symbols
  - Ritual and routines
  - Organisational structures
  - Control systems

#### and:

- Access to resources
- Funding
- Relationships
- Time, including competition for the student's time
- Socialisation into academic life.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Bishop, 1999; Delamont, Atkinson & Parry, 2004; Elphinstone & Schweitzer, 1998; Phillips & Pugh, 2000; Sternberg, 1981.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Johnson, G., Scholes, K. & Whittington, R. (2006) Exploring Corporate Strategy: Text and Cases. London: Financial Times-Prentice Hall.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> See Cryer (2000), Delamont, Atkinson & Parry (2004), Green & Powell (2005) and others identified in our Further Reading and Resources section.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> See in particular: Lukes, S. (1974) *Power: A Radical View.* London: Macmillan; and Wrong, D. (1979) *Power: Its Forms, Bases and Uses.* Oxford: Basil Blackwell.

We suggest that, instead of conceptualising the doctoral experience solely in a linear fashion as is the case with the processual model, this view should be overlaid by one based on the notion of the cultural web.<sup>28</sup> This type of model emphasises the interdependence and interplay of the various aspects of the experience in a way that a process diagram fails to do. It allows for the messiness of which we have spoken and illustrates how the various parts overlap and impact upon the research student's experience. The model includes the elements identified previously, and is shown in diagrammatic form in Figure 2. This approach follows a long tradition in the management and other social sciences of trying to represent the reality of organisational life alongside representations of the formal structure.<sup>29</sup>



#### Figure 2: The Cultural Web of Doctoral Study

<sup>28</sup> This is drawn from Johnson, Scholes and Whittington's model.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> See, for example, Linstead, Fulop & Lilley, op. cit.

Part 3 Power

## A short excursion on power

In the literature on doctoral processes, power is a much under-explored phenomenon. There is, however, a significant literature in the social and political sciences and this suggests that power works at a number of different levels. Lukes, in a much-cited book, <sup>30</sup> identifies three dimensions of power:

- 1) The first is the direct power of one individual<sup>31</sup> to influence another to behave in a way which the former would prefer and the latter might not.
- 2) The second dimension is the power of an individual to define the agenda and thus prevent another individual from voicing their concerns, desires and interests.
- 3) The third dimension is systemic and relates to the power of an individual to define what counts as important or is appropriate to complain about and can, in this way, convince others to accept that they do not have anything to complain about. It operates through the process of socialisation and control over the supply of information.

Examples of each of these three dimensions of power can be identified in the studentsupervisor relationship and there are also student-institution relationship issues with regard to the latter two dimensions.

The first dimension of power stems from the position of authority, or the role, held by one of the individuals in the student-supervisory relationship, that is, the supervisor. It is bolstered by the supervisor's knowledge of both the topic and the doctoral process, that is, as Wrong<sup>32</sup> categorises it, competent authority. The student will recognise the power of the supervisor in this regard and there is, thus, a duty on the supervisor to exercise this power (or to choose not to exercise it in certain circumstances) carefully. To state this more concisely and in very pragmatic terms, a supervisor should be very careful what he or she says to the research student because they might be believed and acted upon accordingly!

The supervisor should also recognise that with all doctoral students, the power relationship between her/him and the student might, and indeed should, change over time. Initially, the balance will be tilted towards the supervisor: at the latter stages of study, the student should have the upper hand. This reflects the development of the student as an independent researcher, and is itself reflected in the administrative fact that most

<sup>32</sup> Op. cit.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Op. cit.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> We talk here in terms of individuals, but Lukes couches his discussion in terms of units of social organisation. We believe that Lukes's arguments apply just as well at the individual level.

institutional regulations require students to get the permission of supervisors to register and/or transfer registration from MPhil to PhD, while the decision to submit the thesis for examination is the student's alone<sup>33</sup>.

There is value also for supervisors to recognise that the part-time student may, because of a potentially less secure and regular relationship with the institution and institutional support, have a greater reliance on them than would a full-time student. There is a potential counterbalance here, however, because the part-time student may have alternative resources, in the form of their experience and/or their current situation, upon which to draw and thereby challenge the supervisor's authority. In the early stages of study, relying too much on external sources and confidants may operate to the student's disadvantage, since these are unlikely to be as knowledgeable as the supervisor about doctoral study. Again, the supervisor would do well to remain aware of this possibility with a view to exercising patience.

The second dimension of power also refers, on the individual level, to the supervisor's superior knowledge, but is also related to departmental culture. It is seen most obviously in the issue of agenda-setting regarding the student's project and the approach taken to it. The danger is that the student's choice of initial topic may be influenced more than is necessary by the supervisor's personal research agenda or by a department or research group's preferred methodological focus. This is less of an issue in the sciences where it is expected that research students will work as part of a team and will have their project determined in large part by the project leaders. In the social sciences and humanities, the tradition is very different and developing the project is an integral part of the student's doctoral studies. However, the danger of being pushed into an inappropriate topic, or of being encouraged to undertake it using an inappropriate methodology, is still there because of the power imbalance inherent in the supervisory relationship set within a departmental context.<sup>34</sup> The supervisor needs to remain vigilant that their position of relative power over the student does not lead to them imposing their own agenda on the student in an inappropriate way. The institution needs to find ways of identifying when this may be happening, possibly through student input into, and independent scrutiny of, the regular appraisal process which all institutions should have in place. Student unions or postgraduate associations provide another way in which a watching brief can be kept on these sorts of issues.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> The anecdotal evidence that some supervisors take *de facto* control of the final submission as well by, for example, pushing the student to submit in order to meet external deadlines, underlines our arguments.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> One of the authors has seen this happen at first hand in a situation where he and another colleague took over post-viva supervision of a student in an institution other than his own to try to 'salvage' something from what had become a tragic situation. The student had registered for a research degree at a research-intensive institution and the supervisory team, in common with the department, had a focus on a relatively new methodology, which was completely inappropriate to the topic being examined. The candidate had been advised to focus a large part of the thesis on the methodology to the neglect of what was a large quantity of very high quality primary data and of more established ways of analysing and presenting it – ways which we thought were highly likely to be successful in examination. The external examiner had been scathing about the thesis and quality of supervision, and the student was finding it difficult to gain access to the supervisor, in part because of the resultant breakdown of trust. To the supervisor, this was one student amongst many and, thus, one failure would be an insignificant part of the output of their total activity. To the student, this represented 100 per cent of their academic activity.

The third dimension of power refers to the systemic aspects of the relationship between student and supervisor, department and institution. As was noted above, it relates to the definition of what counts as important and appropriate, and involves socialisation and information processes. This places an emphasis on what the student is told about their situation and how to change things should they prove to be unsatisfactory. Without information, the student cannot know what their options are. Similarly, if a student does not believe that they can do anything about an unsatisfactory experience, then they will accept whatever they are given. Finally, if a research student does not have opportunities to interact with other students, they are unlikely to discover whether their experience is typical or unusual. This exercise of power is the most insidious and damaging to a student's development: insidious because it can happen without any of the actors being aware of it; damaging because, in the long run, learning cannot take place without awareness.

Part-time, rather than full-time, research students are more likely to fall foul of the exercise of this third dimension of power. This is because, in the early stages of study, they are the most likely to have a greater reliance on the supervisor, whose main focus is likely to be the topic of research, rather than the broader departmental research context, and because they are the types of student least likely to have regular contact with other students.

## Induction, interaction and information

Three areas are of particular importance in ensuring that this third dimension of power does not become a source of difficulty for part-time research students - *induction, interaction and information.* 

#### Induction

It is vital to have some form of induction with which part-time students can engage. It is through induction that they are socialised into institutional and departmental culture. Full-time students face fewer problems with this given that they are 'in residence'. Part-timers, as has been noted, have other demands on their time. More are likely to be able to attend if they are given sufficient advance notice so that they can plan and, if necessary, rearrange their lives outside the university. It may be helpful to regard induction as an ongoing process throughout the first year of study. Rather than expecting the student to be introduced to everything they will need to know throughout their period of study in the first week, it is better to develop a staged programme of induction (with dates planned and notified to students before they officially start their programmes of study). Also ensure that these 'induction' elements take place alongside a variety of other events which involve social/informal activities, but which are focused on the experience of being a research student. This will also help address the second element, interaction.

#### Interaction

There is nothing like interacting with others in the same situation as oneself to begin to understand whether an experience is typical or atypical, or to formulate strategies and actions with which to address issues which are common to the group. These should involve students from different departments and different cognate areas, since the comparison of one student's experience with that of another will soon begin to point up areas of good and bad practice. Good practice is something an institution will want to encourage and share, bad practice is something it will want to eradicate. If bad practice is identified, it is important that there is some way of channelling the outcome of the discussion back to someone in a sufficiently senior position of authority who can tackle the situation. The same person should also be able to organise the dissemination of good practice as it is identified. This may be a Dean of a Graduate School or their equivalent, if that person has had the opportunity to spend a sufficient amount of time with students to build up their trust. This is probably easier in institutions with fewer research students than in those with more. The person who probably has a better overview and better relationship with the body of research students is the Graduate Studies Administrator<sup>35</sup> (the role carries different titles across the sector). In addition to being closer to the students, this person also has the advantage of not being as closely identified with the institution's 'power structure'. If meetings are organised by the students and formally run by them (even if the formal arrangements including refreshments, are made and paid for by the university), then so much the better. University staff can be invited to attend as the students wish, distancing the activity even further from the institutional power structure.

However, it is important to ensure that, because they will find it easier to attend, the voices of full-timers do not drown out those of the part-timers. This is a problem with many research student associations – they are *de facto* full-time research student associations. Institutions must take steps to engage part-time research students with the activities intended to promote interaction.

#### Information

Sir Francis Bacon wrote that 'knowledge is power' and, given that information is a particular type of knowledge transmitted (although not necessarily received), it follows that information is power. Certainly, withholding important information from an individual is a way of enhancing control over them and, if an individual fails to avail themselves of an opportunity to access information, or if access is too difficult or costly, they will place themselves at a disadvantage to others.

A good induction delivered through a number of routes and regular interaction (which can today be through supported IT-based platforms) are two ways of overcoming the problem of information supply and access.

<sup>35</sup> This position may be faculty-based in institutions with larger numbers of research students.

#### Reflection 4

Many will be familiar with the section in Douglas Adams's *The Hitchhiker's Guide to the Galaxy*, when the captain of the Vogon space ship charged with demolishing Earth to make way for a hyperspatial express route announces that destruction will take place in two minutes. Upon observing the ensuing panic, the exasperated Vogon captain tells the crowd:

There's no point in acting all surprised about it. All the planning charts and demolition orders have been on display in your local planning department on Alpha Centauri for fifty of your Earth years, so you've had plenty of time to lodge any formal complaint and it's far too late to start making a fuss about it now.

One of the Earthlings takes issue with this, only to be told:

What do you mean you've never been to Alpha Centauri? For heaven's sake mankind, it's only four light years away you know. I'm sorry, but if you can't be bothered to take an interest in local affairs that's your own lookout.

And, with that, Earth is destroyed in the name of progress.

**Supervisors and students (working in separate groups)**: Thinking of your own institution's doctoral programmes, discuss and draw up a list of information that you think should have been provided to you earlier than it was and in a better format and (possibly) in a different place to that which it was.

After each group has done this, compare and discuss your lists.

## The outworking of power

Bound up with the issues of power, and induction, interaction and information, are a variety of organisational characteristics. These are:

- Organisational structures
- Control systems
- Stories
- Symbols
- Ritual and routines.

#### Organisational structures and control systems

As we have seen in the previous discussion, organisational structures and control systems have both formal and informal aspects. Structures and control systems may appear to be neutral, that is, having no differential impact on different groups of students. This is not necessarily the case. If there are, for example, deadlines which require the submission of hard copies of documents signed by all involved (e.g. student, supervisor and Head of Department), it will be much easier for the full-time student in residence on campus to obtain these signatures than it will be for a part-timer who is dependent on the vagaries of staff members' post trays and administrative support staff to prioritise the document. Institutions could usefully scrutinise their processes and involve part-time students in this scrutiny, so that their perspective on the process is taken into account. We certainly encourage Departments to assign a member of administrative staff as the 'Research Student Administrator'. Part of this person's role should be to ensure that signatures are obtained in a timely manner for research students who cannot be present on campus during the day to do it themselves.

The administrative structure itself may be inimicable to part-time study. By and large, administrators seldom work outside the 8a.m.–6p.m. time slot. Their days are much more structured than are those of academics, and there are, for very good reasons, much stronger demarcations in place between their 'work life' and their 'non-work life'. For many academics, the situation is different, with 'work' and 'life' becoming interwoven and, in some cases very hard to distinguish one from the other. This can mean that, while academic support and advice is available outside normal working hours (the period when many part-time students can access that support), administrative support is less likely to be similarly available. This can also be true for other forms of support, including that relating to personal matters and also learning, through, for example, counselling and library services. Institutions could, again, usefully audit the accessibility to part-time students of administrative, social and learning support services. Again, this should be done in association with the part-time students do not obscure issues relevant to part-timers.

#### Reflection 5

Supervisors and students (with supervisors, full-time and part-time students in three separate groups): Go through your institution's policies, procedures and leaflets, etc. detailing support services for research students, and identify areas where these could make life more difficult for part-time students than they do for full-timers.

Compare the outcomes of each group's deliberations, and prepare a paper summarising your conclusions. Discuss these with a group of appropriate administrators and, following that and, preferably jointly with the administrators, prepare another paper for presentation to the Students Union, Graduate Student Association, Dean of the Graduate School or whatever is the appropriate body in your university for discussion and, as appropriate, implementation.

(It may be worth pointing out to students that this activity will, in itself, help develop the generic analytical skills being sought in research students by the funding bodies!)

#### Stories, symbols, and ritual and routines

These are part of the informal side of the organisation and constitute an important dimension of how people understand it. They are learned by being part of the organisation, that is, individuals are socialised into them. This generally happens through both formal and informal contact with the organisation's culture and requires that the individual be in contact with that culture for prolonged periods of time. This is self-evidently an area where the full-time student will have an advantage over the part-timer.

All organisations have stories which circulate year-on-year about culturally-defining events or people. Gabriel's notion of 'proto-stories' characterises many of these well:

their plot is quite rudimentary, their characters are sketchy, and they hardly seem to warrant repetition or embellishment. They do, however, display the two features of the tragic story: they grow out of misfortune experienced ...and they seek not always successfully to apportion blame and responsibility.<sup>36</sup>

He elaborates these through a series of poetic modes and associated protagonists: Comic (deserving victim, fool), Tragic (non-deserving victim), Epic (hero) and Romantic (love object). Additional modes he points up, which may be particularly recognised by those working in academic contexts are: Humour (survivor, humourist, wizard, ironist), Cock-up (hero-fixer, wizard), Tragi-comic (victim turned unheroic hero) and Epic-comic (unwitting hero, prankster, trickster).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> Gabriel, Y. (2000) Storytelling in Organizations: Facts, Fictions and Fantasies. Oxford: Oxford University Press. p.73.

Examples in academic settings of some of these will be the 'do you remember that student who...' and the 'can you believe that anyone would be so stupid as to assume that?' tales. These stories define the ways in which research students are supposed to behave within that setting, and have the status of fables that allow people to learn without going through the experience themselves. Organisations also have aspects that are symbolically important. Perhaps it is the invitation to the Head of Department's office for tea which signifies that the student has been identified as a 'rising star', or perhaps it is the informal approach to a research student to take on the role of department committee representative. These can be very important in terms of marking a student out. Departments also have ways of doing things which may not accord exactly with the written procedures. These deviations are one of the ways that organisational units make things work for them. In addition to the rituals and routines related to these 'formal' processes and procedures, there may also be rituals or routines associated with individual staff. For example, knowing that the department's research student support tutor can be found in the university bar or at the local cricket club every Tuesday evening is a very important piece of information. Students in possession of this information, and especially those who are also able to take advantage of it, are culturally more powerful than those who are not.

The importance of this informal socialisation process is that research students bring expectations and presumptions to their doctoral studies. Where these are incorrect or exaggerated, it is important that they be changed. The most important way this happens is through ongoing contact with the larger university community, and especially the research student community and the department, and through the provision of information, including that made available through official and unofficial newsletters. In addition to the recommendations made earlier about information provision and about providing enhanced opportunities for part-time students to interact with their full-time colleagues, institutions, departments and students should be encouraged, and given the necessary support, to develop such newsletters themselves.

One of the focuses of this activity should be on uncovering the lived experience of research student life.<sup>37</sup> It is by doing this that the stories, symbols, ritual and routines that pertain to the organisational culture can be demystified, unpacked and made relevant to the individual's circumstances.

# Part 4 Other Issues

Having dealt with power and its various dimensions, the discussion now moves to other substantive issues of particular importance to part-time research students.

## Access to resources

Because of their different patterns of attendance on campus and their different responsibilities outwith the university, part-time students are likely to have different needs from full-timers regarding access to resources. The most obvious campus-based resource required by research students is that provided by Learning Services, or what used to be called the Library. Access to what were previously print-based resources in the form of books or journals has been revolutionised by the Internet. Whereas a decade ago, a good research library might have had 3–4,000 journals on its shelves, today it is not unusual to find non-research intensive institutions with two or three times that number. Additionally, these resources are available to students from home or via any PC linked to the Internet. Also available are resources which have been put together by academics and academic support staff and which are published on the WWW at no cost to the user.<sup>38</sup>

There are, however, occasions when research students have to gain physical access to the library building and there are occasions when significant amounts of time have to be spent working there. Few part-time students have space dedicated to them for quiet working and for leaving their notes, books, etc., lying about for a good length of time: the home kitchen or dining table may be required for other things! By contrast, it has become normal practice for full-time students to have this type of facility made available to them, frequently in their own Department or in the Graduate School. The library often provides this facility or, at least, offers a base for this type of working but, in order for it to do so, it must be accessible when students want to use it. This means more than recognising that research students will want year-round access as opposed to the 'termbased' access needed by most undergraduates. It means recognising that, because of the other demands on their time, part-time students will need access to libraries for relatively long blocks of time outside 'normal' working hours.

The same argument applies also to other campus-based facilities including catering and, if it is offered at all, childcare. Institutions could usefully review the extent of library opening hours, including those outside undergraduate term-time and at weekends which is when many part-time students find the time to study, and ensure that the appropriate facilities are available to part-time students at times when they need to access them. They could also usefully discuss with representatives of the part-time student community the extent to which other student support services meet their needs.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> A good example of this is the excellent library of research methodology resources put together by Mary Sue Stephenson of the School of Library, Archival and Information Studies at the University of British Columbia. It can be found at: http://www.slais.ubc.ca/resources/research\_methods/
The other resource to which students require access throughout the year is the supervisory team. This ongoing access throughout the year is more crucial to parttime students than to full-time students. Part-timers are likely to be less well integrated into the departmental and institutional research community and, therefore, have fewer alternative sources of advice and academic support to which to turn. Supervisors, and other members of departments in which part-time students are based, could usefully discuss, with students and each other, the issue of access to supervisory and research advice and support across the entire year, and give consideration to how best this can be provided, recognising the full range of demands on individuals who are supervisors.

### Reflection 6

**Part-time students**: Identify the resources and provision to which you need access on a regular basis. Identify also the regularity with which you need access.

Audit the extent to which your institution provides access to these in relation to your need.

# Funding

By definition, research students undertake research and, as HEIs, the Government and Research Councils have recently come to understand, research takes resources. Fulltime students, particularly those funded by the Research Councils or institutional bursary schemes, are more likely than part-timers to have all the costs of undertaking their research covered by their funders. (This may also be true for some of those part-time students whose study is supported by their employer, but these individuals constitute the fortunate minority.)

The costs directly associated with research in the humanities and social sciences (the areas where part-time students are most numerous) include visits to archives and the costs of fieldwork. There are, however, also costs associated with attending events which contribute to the development of generic skills, including attendance at academic conferences. This latter type of attendance is particularly important to students intending to pursue an academic career because of the networking and the career progression opportunities conferences can help promote.<sup>39</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> As a personal aside, McCulloch got his first full-time academic post as a direct consequence of attending and presenting a paper at an academic conference. The crucial, accidental, meeting took place at the conference dinner. The cost of attending the conference was, at the time, approximately two weeks earnings and he is eternally grateful to the Department of Humanities at the former Huddersfield Polytechnic, where he was working as a fractional Research Assistant, for meeting half the cost. Without that contribution, it is unlikely you would be reading this Guide today. Whether that would a good thing is, of course, left to the reader to decide!

For some part-time students, the reasons they are part-time are financial, that is, they cannot afford to study full-time. Further, for some students, actual attendance at events (both those internal to and also those outwith their home institution) in itself incurs costs, such as those for childcare or care for dependent relatives.

This has implications for institutions and for supervisors. At the recruitment phase, and this will need to be explored during the interview, the existence of these costs and their likely scale should be identified to the students. This goes well beyond telling potential students about the costs associated with 'the expected total fees, including extra charges (such as 'bench' fees) which will be levied, and any other expenditure on practical items relevant to the individual student' as is required by the QAA Code of Practice. Students need to be made aware of the costs of particular empirical research, as well as seemingly 'minor' costs, such as those associated with photocopying (unless the institution makes that available at no cost to all students). Finally, it needs to be made very clear to the student that, even in the humanities and social sciences, the nature of the topic and the methodological approach to be taken will have a significant impact on the final cost.

In advising part-time research students about the development of their projects, supervisors will want to ensure that they spell out to students the costs inherent in each of the options available. Thus, a project involving a case study of a single organisation based in the same town or city as the student will be much less expensive than one based at a distance or one involving a number of geographically dispersed organisations.

#### Reflection 7

**Supervisors**: Taking as an example one of your current or past research students, calculate the costs of undertaking a particular empirical project, including the costs of any time involved.

**Part-time students**: Identify and attempt to quantify any costs that you have had to meet during your time as a research student that you didn't anticipate when you embarked on your project.

Both: Discuss, together, any issues that might arise from this.

Given that part-time research students face potentially significant costs in carrying out their projects, and can frequently face significant financial difficulties in finding the necessary resources, institutions might wish to consider what these costs are to different types of students, and establish funds into which research students can bid to meet the costs of both fieldwork and conference attendance.

# Relationships

The primary relationship in the doctoral process is without doubt that between the student and the supervisor. However, expectations of that relationship will vary from student to student and also from supervisor to supervisor. Indeed, differences in expectation may form the basis of a significant proportion of the issues that arise regarding the relationship, which is why expectations need to be discussed amongst students and supervisors and why expectations should be one of the topics discussed during induction.

Some students will arrive at university expecting their supervisor to be their friend. Some supervisors may also expect their students to fulfil that role. Both may be disappointed and it is generally wise to retain a degree of distance between student and supervisor, at least in the first instance until both agree on the ground rules of their relationship. If a supervisor and a student find that they 'get on' and then develop a deeper friendship than would normally be the case between that supervisor and her/his students, great care must be taken that this friendship is not misunderstood by the supervisor's other students and, thus, cause jealousies or tensions. This is particularly important where the supervisory team and research students work together as a research group.

However, the relationship with the supervisor will not be the only relationship in any research student's life and these other relationships must be seen as potentially competing. There may be relationships with:

- other research students;
- other staff at the place of study;
- spouse, partner or significant other;
- other family members;
- employer and other people at the student's place of work;
- friends outwith the university setting; and
- those with whom the research brings the student into contact (e.g. respondents and key informers).

Those relationships which lie outside the area of higher education are frequently marginalised, or even discounted, by the commentaries on the doctoral process and, yet, given their characteristics and the nature of part-time study, the part-time student is likely to have more of these competing relationships (and particularly those outwith the university setting) than is the full-time student.

The relationships other than the one with the supervisor carry both positive and potentially negative implications with which the supervisor must deal. On the positive side, students with an extensive set of relationships will find that they have a general support mechanism already in place and this is particularly the case for part-time students who will rarely have moved to live near their place of study and, hence, will remain rooted in their existing

communities. On the other hand, these pre-existing relationships place demands on the student, demands which will require time to meet and which, if not met, may well cause emotional tensions of one sort or another. There are many anecdotal accounts of doctoral students divorcing during their time studying.

One other positive element that mature part-time research students may bring with them is the increased likelihood that, because of their greater life-experience, they will be more at ease in developing relationships. This may also be reflected in the extent to which they are prepared to take on the task of managing the student-supervisor engagements and of challenging the supervisor. As was noted earlier, if this challenge comes from an informed position, all to the good. If, on the other hand, it comes from an ill-informed position, then problems may arise. The whole area of relationships recalls our discussion in Part 3 of the place of power in the doctoral process, i.e. power relations between the student and the supervisor. Finding the correct balance is something each supervisor and student will want to achieve. From the student perspective, interaction with other students and discussion at induction will help with managing relationships, balancing the demands of the academic work with the demands of life outside.

#### **Reflection 8**

**Students (working in small groups of no more than three)**: Identify the relationships which you brought with you and hoped to maintain when you began your doctoral studies.

Discuss the way in which those relationships have changed as a result of your studies. Have these changes been positive or negative?

Feed back the results of the discussion to the larger group and have a summary drawn up.

**Supervisors**: Have the summary drawn up by the students completely anonymised and presented to a group of supervisors to discuss the implications for their supervisory practice.

The centrality of the student-supervisor relationship places a heavy burden upon it and this is recognised by the emphasis placed on it in the QAA Code of Practice. Despite this, it is relatively under-examined in the literature, particularly in relation to its power dimensions, and we would encourage higher education researchers to address this.

# Time

Almost all research students begin their studies by thinking that having between three and five years to complete a single piece of research seems a little generous and, convinced they will have written up early, then wonder how they can fill in the final months or year before their minimum registration period is complete. Most end up articulating the view, rather, that an additional year would have been useful and wondering how they fitted all they did do into such a short time.

Time is the research student's most precious resource and constitutes one of the major differences between studying full-time and studying part-time for a doctoral degree. We have addressed various aspects of this in the previous discussion (see, for example, Reflection I which can be used here as an exercise focussing on time) and do not wish to repeat ourselves, but it is worth adding the following.

While the full-time student can dedicate significant periods of time each day to their research, the part-time student also has to find time for other activities such as employed or unwaged work. Additionally, if our earlier argument that part-time students are more likely to have additional competition for their time than full-time students is accepted, this means that time will be experienced very differently by different students. Given these differences, it is worth considering time not as a fixed resource but rather as something more elastic, as something which is constructed by the individual experiencing it.

The supervisor, and all those involved in induction and student support activities (including other students), can play an important role in shaping the way in which research students construct their experience of time and how they respond to the conflicting demands which all students, but especially part-timers, experience. In this way, time available can be maximised and its usage optimised.

### Reflection 9

Time is possibly the greatest enemy of the research student. Anything a doctoral student can do to use time more efficiently and prevent waste of time will help them manage their studies better. The following activity might help.

**Supervisors**: What are the major time-wasting pursuits that research students engage in? (Think here of your own doctoral studies as well as research students you have known and supervised.) Draw up a list.

Students: What are the major 'time-wasters' that you engage in? Draw up a list.

**Both**: Compare your lists, discuss the similarities and differences and draw up a composite list. For each item on your composite list, identify one or more strategies that could be helpful to students wishing to minimise their 'time-wasting' activities.

Finally, on the issue of time, students need to be made aware of the utility of the administrative process that will run alongside their studies (registration, annual review, transfer) as a mechanism for helping to structure their time. Review will be at least annual and most institutions will have a guide time at which students should be in position to seek transfer. These points will allow students to gauge their progress against some sort of norm. It should, however, be pointed out to students (and to supervisors and administrators) that these guidelines and the administrative structure with which they are associated are intended to act as a support to the student rather than a hindrance or a straitjacket. If students are having a negative experience of these, then either the processes are badly designed or they are not being explained and discussed properly during induction and student support sessions.

## Socialisation into academic life

The earlier discussion on the importance of a student's interaction with the larger research student, departmental, university or extra-university disciplinary communities emphasised its importance in respect of the research process. It also plays a very important role with regard to the socialisation of a research student into the life of academia – in essence, how does a research student become an academic?<sup>40</sup>

Tinkler and Jackson<sup>41</sup> refer to the socialisation function of the doctoral examination as do Rugg and Petre<sup>42</sup>, but we would prefer to think of this function being performed by the entire process of 'becoming' a PhD (this usage can be contrasted with the phrase 'getting a PhD'). If socialisation is a process which is 'learned' through interaction, then our previous comments about the relative disadvantage faced by part-timers regarding interaction will apply also to socialisation. Institutions and supervisors will need to ensure that they recognise that part-time research students face this disadvantage and that they take steps to overcome it.

Many of the issues involved in recognising and overcoming this disadvantage have already been discussed and space (and regard for the reader) does not allow us to reiterate them. However, it is worth reminding readers that socialisation and power are well recognised bedfellows in sociology and that in the educational arena, where equity is an important guiding concept, attempting to redress potential inequalities is an imperative, not an option. Failure in effecting socialisation affects life-chances and we owe it to all our research students to give them the best possible opportunities.

<sup>42</sup> Rugg & Petre, 2004..

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> It is important to recognise that, while much recent policy has emphasised the importance of providing research students with the skills for work outwith higher education, universities are the employer of overall around half of all doctoral graduates (proportions depending upon discipline). Socialisation as an academic is, therefore, an important part of the doctoral process, with the possible, but only possible, exception of those students who explicitly state at the outset that they have no interest in taking that employment route.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> Tinkler & Jackson, 2004.

# Conclusion

In developing this Guide, we have sought to offer a fresh perspective on doctoral study by focusing the reader's (and thus, we hope, university and other policy-makers') attention on the part-time student as the 'normal' student. While recognising the usefulness in administrative and planning terms of a linear, rationalistic modelling of the doctoral process. we have sought to complement this dominant representation of doctoral study through the development of the notion of the 'doctoral cultural web'. This has provided a means through which it becomes possible to envisage issues for doctoral students in an alternative way, a way which we believe has particular relevance for individuals studying part-time. but one which we believe also provides a way of improving the experience of all research students. In doing this, we have sought to generate a richer appreciation of the nature of the UK research student community. We have argued that part-time research students are more likely to be 'mature' and to be less well catered for by existing institutional arrangements and provision and we suggest a number of recommendations, initiatives and changes which, were they to be undertaken in order better to accommodate part-time student needs, would also serve better the needs of full-time research students. It is with this in mind that we offer the following recommendations.

We conclude this Guide with a series of recommendations which stem from our earlier discussion. Some of these are included explicitly in that discussion. Others are implicit within that discussion, but were not drawn out fully for reasons of space. We hope that readers and their institutions will treat the Guide as a whole and utilise both the text and these recommendations as sources for the development of ways in which the experiences of part-time research students can be improved, As we have stated a number of times, we believe that by doing this, the experience of all research students will be enhanced.

In making these recommendations, we have taken the headings used in the QAA Code of Practice (slightly modified) as the basis for our structure. We have done this because this is something with which all institutions, many supervisors and, hopefully, an increasing number of research students will be familiar.

## Recommendations to institutions

## Institutional arrangements

We recommend that institutions should:

- a) re-examine policies, regulations and procedures related to research students from the perspective of the part-time research student, in order to assess the extent to which they meet the needs of this group of students;
- examine the extent to which the library, learning and other support services, and social space used by research students, are as accessible to part-time students as they are to full-time students and make appropriate adjustments to opening hours across the entire year, or make alternative provision as appropriate;
- c) consider providing space (through either committees, research student bodies or especially organised events) for institutional debates on the role of power in structuring the different experiences of full- and part-time research students.

## The research environment

We recommend that institutions should:

- a) audit the extent to which the institutional research environment, and the activities it supports, is accessible to part-time research students, and make appropriate changes in the light of that audit;
- examine, as a matter of course, proposed changes to any aspect of the research environment from the perspective of the part-time research student, in order to ensure that there will be no resultant inequities arising vis-à-vis full-time students;
- c) seek to ensure that part-time research students have similar opportunities to full-time students for interaction with other students and staff;
- d) seek to ensure that part-time research students have access to the same formal and informal information as do full-time students;
- e) ensure provision of a quiet, secure and dedicated base for part-time research students in which they can work uninterrupted at times of their choosing;
- f) consider designating departmental 'Research Student Administrators', part of whose role would be to support part-time research students to meet administrative requirements and deadlines.

## Selection, admission and induction of students

We recommend that institutions should:

- a) explore, at the point of admission, an applicant's motivation for undertaking doctorallevel study;
- b) advise applicants for part-time study of the cost implications of their choice of topic and methodology;
- c) re-conceptualise induction as a process taking place throughout the first year of doctoral study;
- d) ensure that the events and activities that comprise the induction process are as accessible to part-time research students as they are to the full-timers;
- e) combine induction events (and related activities) with social events, in order to maximise the utility of both to part-time research students.

## Supervision

We recommend that institutions should:

- a) provide training for supervisors and others involved in the provision of research degrees in the part played by power in the student-supervisor-institution relationships;
- b) provide training for supervisors on issues of research student motivation and ways in which this might relate to the design and delivery of both generic skills provision and also general student support.

## Progress and review arrangements

We recommend that institutions should:

a) emphasise to students, supervisors and administrators involved with the progression and review of research students that progress and review arrangements and the administrative structure with which they are associated are intended to act as a support to the student rather than as a hindrance or a straitjacket.

## Development of research and other skills

We recommend that institutions should:

- a) ensure that part-time research students have broadly equivalent opportunities to access both research and generic skills programmes and activities, and regularly audit the extent to which both full- and part-time students are satisfied with their levels of access;
- b) seek to ensure that part-time research students have the same access to support as do full-time students to enable them to attend and present at appropriate conferences.

# Feedback mechanisms, student representations, complaints and appeals

We recommend that institutions should:

- ensure that the representation from the research student body on formal committees of the institution does represent the interests of the part-timers as well as those of full-timers;
- b) ensure that the part-time research student voice is represented within all areas of the institution to the same extent as is that of the full-time student voice in the arenas and processes through which student representation takes place.

#### Assessment

We recommend that institutions should:

a) ensure that part-time research students have the same opportunities to prepare for and rehearse the *viva-voce* examination as do full-time students, and audit the extent to which they take up these opportunities in comparison with their full-time counterparts.

### Access to resources

We recommend that institutions should:

- a) consider what the costs of carrying out research are to students with different circumstances, studying in different disciplinary areas and using different methodologies, and establish funds into which research students can bid to meet the costs of both fieldwork and conference attendance according to their individual needs;
- b) give consideration to the full range of resources to which a research student needs access in order to 'become a PhD' (see page 24), audit the extent to which part-time students have access to those resources, and make appropriate arrangements as a result of that audit.

# Recommendations for policy makers

Finally, we recognise that institutional practices reflect the policy environment in which they have developed and operate. For HEIs, these are the Government, the Research Councils and those organisations funding individual students (employers and other sponsors). Accordingly, we would recommend that:

- a) **Government, research councils** and **other funding bodies** should recognise the significant contribution made by part-time research students to the UK's research base and increase the funding available to support them through, *inter alia*, the provision of additional part-time bursaries;
- employers and sponsors should ensure that, wherever possible, they take account of the educational and support needs of part-time research students when finalising support packages.

# Further Reading and Resources

Bishop, V. (1999) Working Towards a Research Degree. London: Nursing Times Books.

Cryer, P. (2000, 2<sup>nd</sup> edn.) *The Research Student's Guide to Success.* Buckingham: Open University Press.

Delamont, S., Atkinson, P. and Parry, O. (2004) *Supervising the Doctorate: A Guide to Success.* Maidenhead: Open University Press/SRHE.

Elphinstone, L. and Schweitzer, R. (1998) *How to Get a Research Degree: A Survival Guide*. St. Leonards: Allen and Unwin.

Gough, M. (2006) 'Postgraduate Education as a form of Lifelong Learning, in the context of the Dimensions of Economic and Wider Benefits', *Journal of Graduate Education*, vol. 3 no. 4, 116–132.

Gough, M. and Denicolo, P. (2007) Research Supervisors and the Skills Agenda: Learning Needs Analysis and Personal Development Profiling (series 2, no.1 of the SRHE Guides, Issues in Postgraduate Education: Management, Teaching and Supervision). London: Society for Research into Higher Education.

Green, H. and Penrose, J. (2007) 'Future directions for postgraduate education', keynote address, *S<sup>th</sup> Annual Postgraduate Conference: Looking to the Future*, Thistle Marble Arch Hotel, London, 15 March.

Green, H. and Powell S. (2005) *Doctoral Study in Contemporary Higher Education*. Maidenhead: Open University Press/SRHE.

Greenfield, N. (ed.) (2000) *How I Got My Postgraduate Degree Part-time*. Lancaster: School of Independent Studies, Lancaster University.

Marshall, S. and Green, N. (2007, 2<sup>nd</sup> edn.) Your PhD Companion: A handy mix of tips, sound advice and helpful commentary to see you through your PhD. Oxford: How to Books.

McCulloch, A. and Stokes, P. (2007) The Issue of Part-Time Students, in Hinchcliffe, R., Bromley, T. and Hutchinson, S. *Skills Training in Research Degree Programmes: Politics & Practice.* Maidenhead: Open University Press. 44–57.

National Postgraduate Committee of the UK: www.npc.org.uk

Phillips, E.M. and Pugh, D.S. (2000, 3<sup>rd</sup> edn.) *How To Get a PhD: A handbook for students and their supervisors*. Buckingham: Open University Press.

Quality Assurance Agency (QAA) (2004) Code of Practice for the Assurance of Academic Quality and Standards in Higher Education: Section 1: Postgraduate Research Programmes. Gloucester: QAA; also at www.qaa.ac.uk/public/COP/postgrad2004.pdf

Rugg, G. and Petre, M. (2004) *The Unwritten Rules of PhD Research*. Maidenhead: Open University Press.

Sternberg, D. (1981) How to Complete and Survive a Doctoral Dissertation. New York: St. Martin's Press.

Stokes, P. and McCulloch, A. (2006) 'Beyond the Doctoral Process: A Call for the Re-Focusing of ''How to... Get a PhD'' Literature', *Journal of Graduate Education*, vol. 3, no. 4, 107–115.

Tinkler, P. and Jackson, C. (2004) The Doctoral Examination Process: A handbook for students, examiners and supervisors. Maidenhead: Open University Press/SRHE.

# TITLES IN THE CURRENT SERIES

- I Research Supervisors and the Skills Agenda: Learning Needs Analysis and Personal Development Profiling
- 2 A Guide for Internal and External Doctoral Examiners
- 3 Supervising Disabled Research Students
- 4 Supervising International Research Students
- 5 The Silent Majority: Meeting the Needs of Part-time Research Students

## Titles in preparation

- The Bologna Process and Beyond: Implications for Postgraduate Education
- Supervision Teams: Making them Work
- Ethical Issues in Postgraduate Education
- Work Based Learning in Postgraduate Education

The series editors would be glad to hear from anyone who would like to write a Guide for the series. Please contact SRHE on srheoffice@srhe.ac.uk

# **The Series**

The Guides in this series are designed for supervisors, postgraduate tutors, heads of department, deans, members of committees on postgraduate and research matters, students' union officers, technical and academically related staff – in fact anyone who in any way contributes to or is responsible for the support of postgraduate students. The Guides will also be useful for anyone involved in supervising projects at undergraduate level.

Each Guide is based on research and/or reflective practice as outlined in its Preface, but the Guides are not presented as research articles. They are short and practical handbooks which are designed to be helpful and easy to dip into. A range of alternative courses of action are presented, and readers are left to make up their own minds about what is best for them in light of the norms and requirements of their disciplines, departments and institutions, the needs of their students and their own personal predilections. In this way the Guides go far beyond basic codes of practice.

Considerable effort has gone into ensuring that the Guides are as useful and relevant as possible. To this end, each one is peer reviewed to maintain standards; it presents a list of suggested further reading and it requests that readers be kind enough to let the authors have suggestions for improvement in the next edition. The Guides are thus consultative.

Published by the Society for Research into Higher Education.



Society for Research into Higher Education SRHE 76 Portland Place London W1B INT tel: 44 (0) 207 637 2766 fax: 44 (0) 207 637 2781 email: srheoffice@srhe.ac.uk www.srhe.ac.uk